1988

Kathy Garcia v. David Warren and Don Wortley : Brief of Appellant

Utah Court of Appeals

JURISDICTION

Jurisdiction to hear this appeal is conferred upon the Court of Appeals by Utah Code Ann. §§ 78-2-2(4) and 78-2a-3(2)(a)(i) (Supp. 1988), Rule 4A, Rules of the Utah Supreme Court and Rule 4A, Rules of the Utah Court of Appeals.

ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW

1. Does an issue of material fact exist regarding the defendants' degree of control and responsibilities regarding maintenance of their building?

2. Does an issue of material fact exist regarding whether the defendants encouraged their lessee to maintain the premises poorly and in an unsafe manner?

3. Does an issue of material fact exist regarding whether the defendants exercised reasonable care under the circumstances toward their tenant's employees?

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Appellant, Kathy Garcia ("Garcia"), was injured when a handrail she was using came loose while she was entering her place of employment. Garcia sued respondents David Warren and Don Wortley ("Lessors"), lessors of the building, alleging negligence in repairing, or failing to repair, the loose handrail. Lessors moved for summary judgment based on a lease provision purportedly assigning responsibility for building maintenance to their tenant, ServiCar, Inc.

On September 1, 1988, the district court signed an Order granting the lessors' Motion for Summary Judgment. (R. 184) The district court concluded that appellee Wortley's participation in the decision to allow the building to fall into disrepair was legally irrelevant in light of the contractual provisions of the lease. (R. 185) The court further held that the fact that Lessors were contributing to and encouraging the poor maintenance of the building also was irrelevant, because of the lease provision. (R.185). The court found that appellee Wortley's reluctance to contribute greater funds to the operation of ServiCar, resulting in poor maintenance of the building, was also

factually inadequate to defeat summary judgment in light of the lease provision. (R. 185). Finally, the court found that the affidavit of Kathy Garcia contained bare assertions and was legally insufficient to raise an issue of material fact with respect to those assertions. (R. 185-6). The court did not hold that the evidence was insufficient to create such factual inferences. Rather, the court assumed that such factual inferences did exist, but found them to be legally irrelevant. (R. 185).

STATEMENT OF MATERIAL FACTS

Respondent Don Wortley is a licensed physical therapist and is engaged in other health care service businesses. (R. 200, pp. 5-6). Sometime in 1978, he purchased a Utah corporation, ServiCar of Utah, which was engaged primarily in the business of transporting handicapped persons. (R. 200, p. 12). ServiCar was purchased by Mr. Wortley primarily to facilitate his other health care-related businesses. (R.200, p. 13). Subsequent to the purchase of the business, defendant David Warren became the manager of ServiCar. (R. 200, p. 11). A substantial portion of the funding for ServiCar's operations came from Lessors. (R. 200, pp. 13-14).

Prior to the date of Kathy Garcia's injury, David Warren and Don Wortley, acting as equal partners in a joint venture known as

W & W Investments, purchased a building at 930 West Jewel Avenue, intending to lease it to ServiCar. (R. 75, 202, p. 14). Approximately a year prior to the Garcia accident, Lessors began leasing their building to the ServiCar corporation. Throughout the course of this litigation, Lessors were unable to produce a copy of the lease agreement between Lessors and ServiCar. (R. 81-82). Lessors assert, however, that the lease expressly assigned maintenance responsibilities to ServiCar. (R. 75-76, 82).

On December 10, 1984, appellant, Kathy K. Garcia ("Garcia"), was an employee of ServiCar. On that date, as Garcia was climbing the stairs to get to her work station, a handrail she was using separated from the wall, causing her to fall. (R. 2, 88-89). As a result, Garcia received serious personal injuries and suffered economic loss. (R. 3, 89).

In the weeks prior to the date of Kathy's accident, David Warren had been warned of the dangerous condition of the railing. (R. 202, p. 19). Lessors also knew that Garcia, who was physically handicapped, sometimes went upstairs into the building by using the handrail to pull herself up. (R. 202, pp. 30-31).

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

The trial court erred in ruling that the lease agreement between Lessors and their tenant was dispositive. Even if the

written terms of the lease provision purported to assign maintenance responsibility to the tenant, the actual conduct of the parties more accurately reflects their intentions. Furthermore, conduct of the parties inconsistent with the terms of the lease creates an ambiguity in the lease agreement, which should be resolved by the jury. If, in reality, Lessors were also responsible for building maintenance, liability may be imposed upon Lessors for negligence in performing such maintenance.

The trial court also erred in disregarding Lessors' financial hold on their tenant. Factual inferences that Lessors exerted substantial control over building maintenance through control of the purse strings, are relevant in determining Lessors' liability for improper maintenance. Additionally, Lessors' knowing attempt to assign maintenance responsibilities to a nearly insolvent entity was in breach of their duty to exercise reasonable care. Moreover, the agreement between Lessors and their tenant cannot be allowed to impair the rights of a third party.

ARGUMENT

POINT I.

THE TERMS OF A LEASE AGREEMENT
DO NOT DEFINE A LESSOR'S
MAINTENANCE RESPONSIBILITIES
WHEN THE LESSOR IN FACT
CONTINUES TO EXERCISE CONTROL
OVER BUILDING MAINTENANCE.

Because "summary judgment deprives a party of its opportunity to present its case on the merits, [the court of appeals] review[s] the facts and inferences in the light most favorable to the party against whom the judgment was granted." Seftel v. Capital City Bank, 100 Utah Adv. Rep. 13, 16 (Ct. App. Jan. 12, 1989). In this case, the sole basis for the District Court's order granting Lessors' motion for summary judgment is the existence, assumed by both parties¹, of a lease agreement purportedly shifting responsibility for maintenance of the building in question to Lessors' tenant, ServiCar of Utah, Inc.²

The District Court did not find that the evidence was factually inadequate to establish that the Lessors were, in fact, exercising control over building maintenance. Rather, the court found the lease agreement to be dispositive, and ruled that the

¹ Lessors were unable to locate the alleged lease during the course of this litigation.

² ServiCar of Utah, Inc. was Garcia's employer. Following the accident Garcia sought and received Workers' Compensation benefits from ServiCar's worker's compensation insurer. ServiCar is not involved in this litigation.

fact that the lessors retained control over the maintenance of the building, and encouraged the poor maintenance of the building, were irrelevant in light of the lease agreement. (R. 185).

In so ruling, the court assigned undue significance to the claimed lease provision. Even if the lease agreement by its terms placed the responsibility for maintenance upon ServiCar, the fact that the parties' conduct contradicted that provision would establish a basis for imposing liability upon the landlord.

The Utah Supreme Court has noted on several occasions that parties' conduct may be more indicative of the actual terms of a contract than the contract itself. See, e.g., Eie v. St. Benedict's Hospital, 638 P.2d 1190, 1195 (Utah 1981) ("Though arguably clear on its face, where the parties demonstrate by their actions that to them the contract meant something quite different, the intent of the parties will be enforced."); Bullfrog Marina, Inc. v. Lentz, 28 Utah 2d 261, 501 P.2d 266, 271 (1972) ("[W]hen parties place their own construction on their agreement and so perform, the court may consider this as persuasive evidence of what their true intention was."); Lignell v. Berg, 593 P.2d 800 (Utah 1979) (formal contract designating parties joint venturers was not determinative of parties' status, where designation was known to be convenient fiction); Harry L. Young & Sons, Inc. v. Ashton, 538 P.2d 316 (Utah 1975)

(employment status depends on facts and circumstances, not necessarily terms of parties' agreement); Centurian Corp. v. Cripps, 624 P.2d 706 (Utah 1981) (whether transaction purporting to be a lease is actually a sale depends on facts of each case.)

The reasoning behind those decisions is that parties create ambiguity in a contract by engaging in conduct which contradicts the written language of the contract. In this case, where the lease agreement is not available for inspection by the parties or the court, the lease can hardly be considered unambiguous on its face. Consequently, the jury should be entitled to consider contradictory conduct of Lessors and their tenant when deciding whether any assignment of responsibilities actually took place.

That conclusion seems particularly appropriate when, as here, the rights of an innocent third party are impaired by the contract. If Lessors actually retained and exercised control over the premises leased to ServiCar, the lease provision cannot prevail against the reality of the situation. Furthermore, that reality is highly relevant to Garcia's claim in this case. Under Utah law, liability may be imposed upon a lessor for injuries caused by conditions for which the lessor is responsible. In Stephenson v. Warner, 581 P.2d 567, 568 (Utah 1978), the Utah Supreme Court noted:

It is not to be doubted that a landlord is bound by the usual standard of exercising ordinary prudence

and care to see that premises he leases are reasonably safe and suitable for intended uses, nor that under appropriate circumstances he may be held liable for injuries caused by any defects or dangerous conditions which he created, or of which he was aware, and which he should reasonably have foreseen would expose others to an unreasonable risk of harm.³

The fact that Lessors retained control of, and responsibility for, building maintenance, could lead a jury to conclude that Lessors were responsible for the loose handrail which caused Garcia's injuries. Under applicable Utah case law, therefore, a material issue of fact exists in this matter, rendering improper the trial court's order granting summary judgment.

POINT II.

AN ISSUE OF MATERIAL FACT EXISTS
REGARDING THE LESSORS' CONTROL OVER
MAINTENANCE OF THE BUILDING.

The District Court held that the Lessors' personal funding of ServiCar and encouragement of ServiCar to maintain the building poorly were factually inadequate to raise an inference

³ In Stephenson, unlike the instant case, the cause of the explosion and fire which injured plaintiff could not be determined. The court held that liability could not be imposed upon the landlord, because there was "no reasonable basis in the evidence to support the plaintiff's claims: either that it was the water heater that actually caused the fire; . . . or that the gas water heater necessarily constituted a dangerous condition; or more importantly, that the defendant landlord, Mr. Greenwood, was responsible for any such condition." Id. at 569.

that building maintenance was in fact the responsibility of Lessors as well as their tenant. The court's finding erroneously disregards the effect of that funding arrangement.

In this case, Lessors -- and lessor Wortley in particular -- essentially underwrote ServiCar's operations. From Lessors' own testimony, it is clear that ServiCar was never intended, or expected, to be financially independent. According to lessor Wortley, "there was never an economic interest, or business interest on ServiCar. We did that [purchased the business] so that we could facilitate the other aspects of our business." (R. 200, p. 13). Wortley further admitted that "we never have made a profit with ServiCar, but we have always tried. That is really a tongue-in-cheek 'try'." (R. 200, p. 13).

As Wortley testified, "ServiCar is ostensibly a business, it's really a disease. Once you get it, you get infected with it, you can't let it alone. Anybody that has ever touched it, that I know, just keeps putting -- it's a hole in the world through which you pour money." (R. 200, p. 14).

The significance of ServiCar's financial dependence on lessors becomes apparent in light of the fact that Lessors purchased the building with the sole intent of leasing it to ServiCar. (R. 202, p. 14). Lessors plainly knew that their tenant, ServiCar, could not afford to make repairs without a constant infusion of funds by lessors. Aware of this fact,

Lessors nonetheless leased the premises to ServiCar, and drafted a lease agreement assigning ServiCar responsibility for maintenance of the building. A jury could reasonably infer that Lessors breached their duty of reasonable care not only by knowingly leasing a building to a nearly insolvent entity, but also by shifting responsibility for repairs to a tenant who Lessors knew did not have the necessary funds. Consequently, the trial court erred in concluding that ServiCar's financial dependence on Lessors was irrelevant.

The trial court also erred in failing to recognize the impact of the funding arrangement between Lessors and ServiCar on the performance of maintenance responsibilities. The simplest means of illustrating the effect of ServiCar's financial dependence on Lessors might be through the following hypothetical scenario:

Suppose L recognizes that T, a stranger, needs to move to a different facility in the near future. L purchases a building with the sole intent of renting it to T, and suggests to T that T lease the building. To limit his exposure, L tells T that T will have to assume responsibility for maintenance of the building. T explains to L that T is struggling financially, and simply could not afford to pay rent and make repairs. L, faced with losing his tenant and the tenant's rental payments, tells T not to worry, that L will give T a break on the rent, if necessary, to

enable T to afford repairs.

On numerous occasions during the next year, T consults with L about necessary repairs. On certain occasions T makes repairs and is allowed an offset against his rent. On other occasions L advises T that no repair is "really needed" and T decides not to make the repair. Later, T approaches L about the need to repair a loose handrail. L, tired of "pouring" money into maintenance of the building, advises T that the handrail does not really need repaired, and that L will not allow T to offset from his rent the expense of repairing the handrail. T, financially unsound, does not repair the handrail, and one of his employees is injured as a result.

In this scenario, L clearly exercised real control over maintenance of the building, regardless of the terms of the lease provision. At the very least, the two entities maintained the building as a joint enterprise, and thus became jointly liable for negligence in the performance of that enterprise.⁴

⁴ Under that scenario, and under the similar facts of the instant case, the elements of a joint enterprise would appear to be present:

(1) An agreement, express or implied, among the members of the group; (2) a common purpose to be carried out by the group; (3) a community of pecuniary interest in that purpose, among the members; and (4) an equal right to a voice in the direction of the enterprise, which gives an equal right of control.

Utah Farm Bureau Mutual Insurance Co. v. Johnson, 738 P.2d 652,

The same conclusion is dictated by the circumstances of the instant case. Lessors admittedly "poured" money into ServiCar to enable ServiCar to perform its essential operations, including repairs, and were aware that inadequate funding limited ServiCar's ability to repair. Lessor Wortley testified:

Q. . . . Did David [Warren] do a pretty good job of taking care of the building in general?

A. I thought so, as good as he could do with the money he had, that was always a problem.

(R. 200, p. 24 (emphasis added)).

Despite that knowledge, Lessors knowingly refused to provide sufficient funds for repairs, exemplified by lessor Wortley's testimony that the vans used by ServiCar to transport handicapped persons were "held together with bailing wire and chewing gum." (R. 200, p. 16). A jury could reasonably infer that Lessors knowingly attempted to shift responsibility for repairs to a financially insolvent entity, which constituted a breach of duty toward appellant Garcia and others. A jury could also infer that the funding arrangement between Lessors and ServiCar gave Lessors control in fact over maintenance, rendering the parties jointly responsible for the improper maintenance of the building. Such inferences are clearly relevant to issues of liability, and thus

655 (Utah App. 1987), quoting Mukasey v. Aaron, 20 Utah 2d 383, 438 P.2d 702, 704 (Utah 1968).

summary judgment was improper.

POINT III.

AN ISSUE OF MATERIAL FACT EXISTS AS TO
WHETHER LESSORS BREACHED THEIR DUTY OF
REASONABLE CARE.

The Utah Supreme Court recently recognized that

[t]he common law duty of a landlord has been expanded in virtually every state, either judicially or by statute, beyond the narrow common law categories . . . [T]his court has charged landlords with a duty to exercise reasonable care toward their tenants in all circumstances.

Williams v. Melby, 699 P.2d 723, 726 (Utah 1985); see also Gregory v. Fourthwest Investments, Ltd., 754 P.2d 89, 91 (Utah App. 1988). Any attempt by Lessors to avoid that duty by contract with their tenant cannot be binding on an innocent third party.

In Tanguay v. Marston, 127 N.H. 572, 503 A.2d 834 (1986), the New Hampshire Supreme Court was faced with virtually identical circumstances. Noting that a landlord has a duty to exercise reasonable care under all circumstances, the court held that a lease provision assigning maintenance responsibilities and liability for damages did not bar the tenant's employee from suing the landlord:

[W]e note that, as between themselves, a lessor and lessee in a lease of commercial real estate may agree on which party will maintain the leased premises and which party will be liable for injuries caused by improper failure to maintain. . . . While exculpatory clauses in leases of commercial real estate are binding on the parties

to the lease, they have no effect on non-signers,
such as the plaintiff.

503 A.2d at 838 (emphasis added).

In this case, Lessors contend that the lease provision automatically absolves them of liability arising from improper maintenance of the building. In that respect, the maintenance agreement is indistinguishable in effect from a typical exculpatory provision purporting to shield a lessor from liability. The majority of courts considering exculpatory provisions in a lease have held that such provisions do not bar a third party's recovery from the lessor for injuries received on the premises. See, e.g., Annotation, "Effect, on nonsigner, of provision of lease exempting landlord from liability on account of condition of property," 12 A.L.R. 3d 958 (1988 Supp.), and cases cited therein.

The reasoning underlying those holdings was explained by the court in Kirkland v. Western Electric Company, Inc., 296 So.2d 350 (La. App. 1974). Holding that two parties could not fix the employment status of an individual "with respect to rights belonging to and obligations owed by third parties who are not in any way parties to the contract," the court in Kirkland illustrated the principle in the lessor-tenant context:

The owner of a building and a tenant storekeeper may enter into a contract for ultimate responsibility to business invitees of the parties to the agreement but they cannot deprive such a business invitee of any legal right he may have to

proceed against either of the parties to the contract. . . . If company A, financially strong, contracted with company B, hopelessly insolvent, and they agreed that B's employees would at all times be considered B's employees, and if an employee of B, while a true borrowed servant of A, negligently injured a plaintiff, it could hardly be said that plaintiff's right to proceed against A was precluded because of the contract between A and B.

Id. at 353-354.

The concerns stated by the Kirkland court are present in this case. From lessor Wortley's own testimony, a jury could infer that the lease agreement regarding maintenance was merely an attempt to shield a financially strong entity from liability, using a financially weak entity with related interests to perform that function.