1988

Kathy Garcia v. David Warren and Don Wortley : Brief of Respondent

Utah Court of Appeals

JURISDICTION

Jurisdiction to hear this appeal is conferred upon the Court of Appeals by Utah Code Annotated §§ 78-2-2(f) and 78-2a-3(2)(a)(i) (Supp. 1988), Rule 4A, Rules of the Utah Supreme Court and Rule 4A, Rules of the Utah Court of Appeals.

RELIEF SOUGHT

Defendants, David Warren and Don Wortley, seek affirmance of the Order of Dismissal granted on defendants' Motion for Summary Judgment by the trial court.

STATEMENT OF FACTS

Appellant, Kathy Garcia, ("Garcia"), was injured December 10, 1984, on the job as an employee of ServiCar of Utah, Inc., ("ServiCar"). ServiCar was a corporation providing transportation for the elderly and handicapped to therapy centers, primarily within the Salt Lake Valley.

The premises where Garcia's injury occurred was leased to ServiCar. Respondents, David Warren ("Warren") and Don Wortley ("Wortley"), were the lessors of the premises under a joint venture agreement, W & W Investments.

The lease between ServiCar and W & W Investments specifically provided that ServiCar, as lessee, had control of the premises and was solely responsible for all of maintenance, repair, and upkeep of the premises, both prior to and following appellant's accident.

Appellant brought an action before the Industrial Commission of the State of Utah, Case Number 85000722, against ServiCar and/or Workman's Compensation Fund of Utah, a second injury fund, to recover for injuries received. On January 9, 1986, the Commission ruled in favor of appellant and awarded compensation.

In August, 1986, Garcia filed the above action against Respondents alleging respondents were owners of the building and lessors to ServiCar, appellant's employer, and that respondents had actual knowledge of the condition causing appellant's injury and failed to correct the same.

On September 1, 1988, the District Court signed an order granting respondents' motion for summary judgment. [R. 184]

STATEMENT OF MATERIAL FACTS

Respondent Wortley, is a licenses physical therapist and a shareholder of a corporation, Rehab Management ("Rehab"), providing physical therapy services to the elderly and handicapped. [R. 200, p. 9] In approximately 1978, Rehab purchased ServiCar to provide transportation for the elderly and handicapped to therapy centers. [R. 200, p. 12] During the first part of 1984, Rehab sold ServiCar to Intermountain Health Care. ("IHC") [R. 200, pp. 15, 17] Wortley assumed a position with IHC as an employee without decision-making authority. [R. 200, p. 17] Appellant was injured as an employee of ServiCar on December 10, 1984. [R. p. 2]

Contrary to appellant's assertion (Appellant's Brief, page 4) respondents Warren and Wortley, as lessors, never at any time put their personal money into ServiCar, nor were they requested or expected to be responsible for "a substantial portion of the funding for ServiCar's operations...." (Appellant's Brief p. 4)

In approximately August of 1983, Warren and Wortley formed the joint venture, W & W Investments, and purchased the premises at 930 Jewel Avenue, Salt Lake County, for the purpose of leasing the building to ServiCar. [R. 200, pp. 10-11] Warren had been

an employee of a company called THE VAN, a company also providing transportation for the elderly and handicapped. The Manager of ServiCar terminated his employment and Warren was employed by ServiCar as General Manager. [R. 200, p. 11] ServiCar, as lessee, entered into a written lease with W & W Investments.¹

The lease provided that ServiCar exercise control of the premises and responsibility for the care, maintenance, and upkeep of the building prior to and following the date of appellant's accident. Melba Lynette Ross, General Manager of ServiCar, Inc., attested to the terms of the written lease, the sole responsibility of ServiCar as lessee to be responsible for all of the care, maintenance and upkeep of the premises and the fact that ServiCar indeed fulfilled that role and responsibility. [R. pp. 93-95] This fact was further attested to by Marshall Kay, a former employee of ServiCar. [R. pp. 91-92], Bobby Merkey [R. pp. 86-87], Don Wortley [R. pp. 81-83] and David Warren [R. pp. 96-97]. Appellant in her Complaint acknowledged the existence of a lease. [R. p. 2] The District Court ruled: "It is undisputed in the evidence submitted by the parties that the lease agreement between defendants and their tenant, ServiCar of Utah, provided that ServiCar of Utah was responsible for

¹ A copy of the lease could not be located, however, the Manager of ServiCar, Lynette Ross, acknowledged the written document and the responsibility of ServiCar to provide sole care, maintenance and upkeep of the premises pursuant to the written agreement.

maintenance of the building where the plaintiff was injured.

[R. p. 185]

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

The trial court ruled correctly on the evidence in holding the lease agreement between lessor and their tenant was conclusive of the issues between the parties.

The evidence clearly shows and the fact is admitted by appellant's Complaint that a lease existed between ServiCar and W & W Investments. The record clearly indicates that the lease assigned to the lessor, ServiCar, sole responsibility for the control, care, maintenance, and upkeep of the premises, both before and after appellant's accident. In addition, the record clearly reflects that the appellant was an employee of ServiCar. [R. p. 2] ServiCar was owned by IHC. [R. 200, p. 15] Warren was General Manager of ServiCar and not associated with IHC. Wortley was an employee of IHC without independant decision-making authority. [R. 200, p. 17] Neither respondent, Warren or Wortley, individually or collectively, put any money into the operation of ServiCar nor exercised control over ServiCar by control of its purse strings as alleged in Appellant's Brief. Appellant selected her remedy by pursuing her cause of action through the Industrial Commission of the State of Utah.

[R. p. 75]

There is no basis in law or in fact to overturn the decision of the trial court.

ARGUMENT

POINT I

THE TERMS OF A LEASE AGREEMENT DO NOT DEFINE
A LESSOR'S MAINTENANCE RESPONSIBILITIES WHEN
THE LESSOR, IN FACT, CONTINUES TO EXERCISE
CONTROL OVER BUILDING MAINTENANCE.

All the evidence before the Court clearly demonstrated two points. There was a written lease agreement between W & W Investments, and that lease places sole responsibility upon ServiCar for the control, care, maintenance, and upkeep of the premises, both prior to and following appellant's accident. These facts are set forth in the Affidavits supporting defendants' Motion for Summary Judgment of Lynette Ross, former General Manager of ServiCar [R. pp. 93-95]; Bobby Merkey, ServiCar employee [R. pp. 86-87]; and Marshall Kay, ServiCar employee, [R. pp. 91-92]. Copies of the foregoing Affidavits are attached as addendums to Respondent's Brief, together with supporting exhibits. The point is further attested to by the Affidavit of Wortley [R. pp. 81-83] and as a part of his deposition. [R. 200, p. 22] Warren, as General Manager, also testified that there was a written lease and that ServiCar had sole responsibility for the control, care, and maintenance. [See Warren Deposition, pp. 15, 20, 23-24, 32]. The record is well documented with check receipts of ServiCar for repair and maintenance performed on the premises by ServiCar. [R. pp. 114-143]

Warren testified at his deposition:

A. Our...lease was with ServiCar and ServiCar maintained the building. I had two hats. I was Manager of ServiCar. And as Manager of ServiCar, it was my responsibility to maintain the building. And I did that and we paid the bills, all except major improvements, major capital improvements.

Q. Who paid for the major capital improvements?

A. We had secured a loan on the building.

Q. So you and Don paid for that personally?

A. Well, the bank paid for it.

Q. Well, it was--you were wearing your hat as an individual?

A. With the parking lot and the roof and the heater and those kind--incidental day-to-day repairs were ServiCars.

There is no conduct demonstrated by the record that would raise an issue on this point. The respondents, as lessors, exercised no control over the building maintenance. The decision of the District Court in this case is consistent with the prevailing law, not only in Utah, but surrounding states.

The Colorado Appellate Court ruled in Ogden v. McChesney, 584 P.2d 636 (Colo. App. A 1978) that if parties agree either orally or in writing upon whom the responsibility for repairs would rest, that argument is binding. The Court further stated:

Absent retention of control or an agreement to maintain, a landlord is not obligated to make repairs on leased premises, even if the premises are in a dangerous condition and repairs are necessary to render it safe and suitable for tenants use and occupancy.... Thus, since [the landlord] had relinquished control of the leased premises, and had made no direct covenant to repair,

he is not liable for personal injuries to his tenant's employees caused by the defect which occurred on the premises.

The Utah Supreme Court has also held:

[A] Landlord is not deemed to be the principal of his tenant merely because of the landlord-tenant relationship; and he is not responsible for the tenant's torts, nor for the tenant's failure to keep the premises reasonably safe and in good repair.... (I)t is the tenant who is liable for any dangerous condition on the premises which he creates or permits to come into existence after he has taken possession. Stevenson v. Warren, 581 P.2d 567 (Utah 1978).

This rule of law is clearly what appellant had in mind when she selected her remedy, choosing to bring her action before the Industrial Commission following her injury.

POINT II

AN ISSUE OF MATERIAL FACT EXISTS REGARDING THE LESSOR'S CONTROL OVER MAINTENANCE OF THE BUILDING.

Respondent disagrees with this statement.

There is no evidence in the record that the lessors personally funded ServiCar. On the contrary, the record is explicitly clear that the lessors did not personally fund ServiCar at all. Appellant's entire argument on this point is taken from the deposition of respondent Wortley. A review of the record, however, shows that ServiCar was not owned or "underwritten" by lessor Wortley. Wortley, a registered physical therapist, formed a corporation called Rehab Management, Inc. ("Rehab"). [R. 200, p. 9] Subsequently, Rehab acquired ServiCar

to facilitate the transporting of the elderly and handicapped to Rehab's therapy centers. [R. 200, p. 12] ServiCar was acquired by Rehab because ServiCar had state "authorization" [R. 200, p. 13]. Rehab was unable to get the needy to therapy without state authorized transportation. It is true the profit was not the motivation behind the acquisition of ServiCar by Rehab. Wortley testified that it was acquired to facilitate the other aspects of their business, namely, therapy for the needy and handicapped. [R. p. 13]

In the fall of 1983, Wortley negotiated a joint venture with Intermountain Health Care. One of the businesses formed through the joint venture was Intermountain Health Care Rehab, IHC Rehab. Part of the designated purpose of the venture was to continue the operation of ServiCar. [R. 200, p. 14] IHC Rehab took over ServiCar from Rehab Management, Inc. ("Rehab") [R. 200, p. 15]. ServiCar continued to be an expense to Intermountain Health Care but it was continuing to serve a community need and Intermountain Health Care continued its operation. [R. 200, p. 15] Lessor Wortley, continued to be an employee of IHC Rehab. [R. p. 17] There is no testimony or evidence that lessor Wortley or Warren ever participated in the personal funding of ServiCar nor is there any record of evidence that either lessor exerted control over building maintenance through control of ServiCar's purse strings. Warren testified that while ServiCar did not operate in the black, it did have periods of "fat" along with its periods of "lean" times. See Warren Deposition, p. 31.

There is absolutly no evidence to the allegation of appellant that lessor's plainly knew that their tenant, ServiCar, could not afford to make repairs without a constant infusion of funds from lessor nor that the premises were leased to a nearly insolvent entity. There is no evidence in the entire record that ServiCar did not have necessary funds to meet their leasehold obligations and to repair the premises. Neither is there any evidence other than the self-serving and unsupported statement by the Affidavit of Garcia that ServiCar or their premises were allowed to fall into a state of disrepair by the actions of the respondents. [R. p. 145] The Utah Supreme Court has said that:

An Affidavit which merely reflects an affiant's unsubstantiated conclusions and which fails to state evidentiary facts is insufficient to create an issue of fact. Williams v. Melby, 699 P.2d 723 (Utah 1985) p. 725.

The trial court correctly concluded from the record that there was no justiciable issue of fact on this point.

POINT III

AN ISSUE OF MATERIAL FACT EXISTS AS TO WHETHER LESSORS BREACHED THEIR DUTY OF REASONABLE CARE.

There is no material fact in the entire court record which would suggest that the lessors breached a duty of reasonable care.

The general principal of law in this regard is concisely stated as:

In the absence of statute or of an agreement to the contrary, the landlord is not obligated to make repairs upon the demised premises during the term, either to put the premises in repair or to keep them in such condition. 49 Am. Jur., Landlord and Tenant, §774.

Utah courts have followed this principal and the Utah Supreme Court has held:

....(A) Landlord is not an insurer of the safety of his tenants, and an injury caused by a defect in the premises does not automatically result in landlord liability. Eaton v. Savage, 502 P.2d, 564 (Utah 1972); Williams v. Melby, 699 P.2d 723, 727 (Utah 1985); Gregory v. Fourthwest Investment, Ltd., 754 P.2d 89, 91 (Utah App. 1988)

While a landlord has a responsibility to exercise reasonable care, there is no evidence in the record to reflect that the landlord or lessor did not act reasonably in this case. ServiCar had agreed to make all repairs to the premises and, in fact, made all repairs to the exclusion of the lessor during the entire term of the lease.